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CORAM: ANDERSON J.

The First Claimant, Henry Lue, to whom I shall hereinafter refer briefly as "Lue" is

the chairman, chief executive officer and majority shareholder of the 2nd
, 3rd and 4th

Claimants. I shall where necessary, refer to these Claimants as "Property".

"Quarrying" and "Buildings" respecti vely The 151 Defendant (hereinafter "the Bank")

was at the material time, a bank registered and licensed under the Banking Act and is

the bank with whom the Claimants allegedly did the various transactions which have

given rise to these claims and the 2nd Defendant was its chief executive officer. The

3rd and 41h Defendants are allegedly the successors in title or assignees of the business

of the Bank and are sued in the capacity of assignees

When this matter came on for hearing, Mr. Emil George, Q.c. on behalf of the 2nd

Defendant, applied to the court to strike out the suit as against that defendant, on the

ground that the Claimants' statement of case disclosed no cause of action against him

The application was based upon the fact that the allegations against that Defendant

were all directed to him in his capacity as the President and Chief Executive Officer



and therefore the senant or agent of the 1sl Defendant. The loan contracts to whIch

the Claimants' pleadings refer "ere all between the Bank and the respecti\e

Claimants and not the 2nd Defendant personally Similarly. the alleged --relationship or
lJ u:;t and confidence", lelated to the relation:;hlJ) bet\\ een Ihe Claimants and the B'J1h.

according to paragraph 10 of the statement of claim The 2nd Defendant as Chief

Executive Officer of the I sl Defendant had an over-riding fiduciary to that institution

and this required him to act in protection of the interests of the Bank of which he was

always acting as servant or agent. There was no allegation that at any time the 2nd

Defendant purport acted as other than the 1st Defendant's representative. servant or

agent His acts were therefore clearly the acts of the I st Defendant bank and liability if

any would be vicariously that of the Bank. Nor was there any averment that in the

course of so acing he had overstepped his authority or was guilty of any fraudulent or

other misconduct

Me George cited Bowstead and Reynolds on Agency, 1t h Edition. page 532 to the

following effect

Where the agent acts for a company and is in a senior position within it, a
further feature is introduced. for to hold him personally liable may. especially in
the case of one-man companies, be in effect to pierce. or at any rate to ignore,
the corporate veil In such cases clear evidence of a separate wrong will
normally be looked for.

The application was opposed by Ms, Cummings for the Claimants bUL after

consideration. the Court ruled that Me Sasso, the 2nd Defendant should be dismissed

from the suit as a party.

According to the Statement of Claim Lue has provided personal guarantees in favour

of Property. Quarrying and Buildings Property has provided collateral for the loan,

the issue gIving rise to this action: Quarrying and Buildings have both provided

guarantees for the 1st and 2nd Claimants. The Statement of Claim further alleges that

the 1sl and 2nd Claimants became customers of the Bank Il1 Mav 1992 "hen the Bank

opened Its doors at a New Kingston location by opening a current account with the

said Bank~ that the relationship between the Claimants and the 1sl Defendant "was

based on trust and confidence over and above the banker-customer relationship and

the Bank through its officers and servants were aware of this".



:\ccording to pa:agr:lph Ie, oftiiC' State'lcnt uCCiJiill. thc I" and:: Claimallls i'l or

:lbout ]0°1 lwrrcmcc! tcn million doJl:1rs iSIO,nOO,ooo.OO) in order to c1c\clup j~'r!)

j i \ C (·-15) h0 using un its ~. t .\ 1iJ L! ncI (j Ldc5 ) [ ()U ~ ing :"-: hc I:l C ii1 [ hc P :1 ;. i)1 " I

Clarendon, (The statcmcnt of claim \\as clll1ended to accord \\ith the cvidence in the

witness statement of \11'. Lue, See belcm) Lue's wilness statement howC\er said that

there \\ere to be fort)-six (46) units, The statement of claim avers that it was agreed

that the loan would be at the rate of 65% per annum which was the current loan rate at

the Bank, I take it that the "rate" referred to \\as the rate of interest.

The Claimants' Statement of claim also alleges that the Bank did not compute the

interest on a reducing balance basis as it had said it would but instead compounded

the interest due. It \\as also claimed that there \\as an over-run on the Midland Clades

I-lousing Scheme and it is acknowledged that the Ist and 2nd Claimants had to apply

for a further $5,000,000,00 loan to complete the project. The statement of claim says

that this now made the principal indebtedness "S 15,000.000.00", but in light of the

amendment referred to above, this figure should also have been amended to $25

million, The Claimants complain that again the sums borrowed \\cre not credited to

the relevant (Property) account, but as cheques were drawn the account went into

overdraft and the higher rate of interest appropriate to overdraft \\as charged.

Ihe Claimants also claim that as a result of this treatment. "the Plaintiffs were told

that thc loan was exceeding the limit set for an individual customer by the Bank of

Jamaica" and the 2nd Defendant started pressuring the 1st PlaintiJi' to make payments

to reduce the debt". The statement of elairn further alleged that Lue \\as "forced alld

coerced by the ISi and 2"J Defendants to use the 3'J and 4'\) Plaintiffs (Quarrying and

Buildings) to cross guarantee the Midland Clades lozlil so as to alIO\\ the lSi and 2" J

Defendants to satisfy the alleged Dank of Jamaica rule which was the illegal and self­

serving advise (sic) giwn to him by the Isf and 2 'J Defendants, and that the Plaintiff

under duress and unreasonable pressure put on him b) the Bank allowed the Bank to

redistribute the debt to appease them",

It \\as further claimed in the statement of claim that the rate of interest applied to

these loans was the overdraft rate of 120% per annum and that the claimants were also
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\\Tc'ngly and illcgali) charged a C(:mmitmcnt fCe of '::;0
() on the dL'llt that \\ ,l~

"redistributed". It is not clem to me wh<.lt .5?'o \\CiS being referred to <.lS the <.lctual .~lIms

charged on the so-called redistribution ofa S34,OOO,OOO 00 debt into separ<.lte debts oj

S18.000.000.()O and S16.000.000 ()() arc Iwt nf [h'lt rercent:l!:-'c ,\ccc1rdil'!:-' to [Lll"~

\vitness statemenL the commitment fees \\ere respectl\ely. S202,OOO.OO and

S180,OO().OO which do not represent .5% e\en \\ hen (JeT of J Y;o is to the tee.

The Claimants essentially claim that they have suffered loss and damage because of

the negligence and/or breach of trust on the pal1 of the I" and 2nd defendants. The

Claimants allege the following particulars of negligence.

1. Negligently advising and encouraging the Plaintiffs to use an overdraft
facility rather than a loan to finance the Midland Glades Housing Scheme
Development.

II. Negligently charging the excessive overdraft penal rate of interest to the
Plaintiffs without adequate notice in breach of prior agreements to charge
the loan rate of interest.

Ill. Negligently causing the Plaintiffs to agree to a redistribution of the loan so
that the I 5t and 2nd Defendants could allegedly satisfy their alleged banking
requirement imposed by the Bank of Jamaica.

IV. Negligently causing the Plaintiffs to pay commitment fees on the
redistributed debt.

v. Negligently failing to complete the transfer of the Cross Pen property to the
Plaintiffs thus adversely affecting the Plaintiffs' ability to dispose of the
property and to settle outstanding debt (or usc the property as collateral).

vI. Negligently failing to advise the Plaintiffs to seck. independent legal and
financial advice

VII. Negligently alkwing the Plaintiffs to finance the project on an cwerdralt
facility v\ ith inkrest rate of 120% per annum.

VIII. Negligently advising the Plaintiffs to continue drawing cheques on their
current account without providing proper supervision of the said account
allowing the accollnt to exceed its limit and or not setting any If/llits on the
said accounts in violation of Bank of Jamaica rules.

The Claimants also allege in their statement of claim that the defendants \\ere "in

breach of confidentiality (sic) reposed in the 1'1 and yJ Defendants". Tiley then set

out \\hat arc claimed to be "Particulars of Reliance". These are stated to be as follo\\s:

a) In anticipation of the disbursement of the Joan fI"OIll the Bank and
on the Bank's instructions, the Plaintiffs continued to dra\v
cheques against the Plaintiffs' current account to construct the
\lidland Glades Housing Scheme, on the belief that the agreed loan
rate would be applied. As a result of the I

q
and 2nd Defendants'

negligence and breaches of duty the Plaintiffs have not seen any
benefits or financial returns on the sums invested.
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b) III :JIlticip:lli\)11 of the disbll,Sei11ellt of the ]OJIl (111 l;l\UUrabk terills
the Plaintiifs jiroccedcd to bom)'v an additi(Jl1al 55 million fWIll the
Ballk to CUll1plete the cC'r1struclic)n of the !\lidland (jl:H.ks ! jO~!Sll1g
S~'heJ1le' therehv incre:tsing the PI,lintjjL' liilbilities As il result l,t
the ] ,I ,inJ::: Dcfclldanls' ncslit-cllCC and breaches uf duty t!h':
PlilintilE h,1\e not seen am beneJlts '.'1' finallcial rcturns on the SllillS
itl\cstcd and have incurred additional cost anl: expense's.

It \\cllJid scem that the pith and core of the Claimants' claim may be sUlllmed up in

paragraphs 40,41 and 42 of the statement of claim. These paragraphs allege:

I. The loan(s) for l\lidland Glade llousing Schemc was never disbursed on
the terms agreed bctween the parties and as such the consideration for the
giving of security failed.

J In the premises thc Plaintiff~s arc entitled to the return of the security
pledged and the voiding of such portion of the contract bet\vccn the parties
to provide security for the loan.

3. The Bank negligently and in breach of a term implied in the contract
between thc parties failed to return the security granted by the Plaintiffs
causing the Plaintiffs fUl1her injury and loss as the Plaintiff Company had
no unencumbered collateral that they could use to access a loan from an)
other source.

Among the remedies sought by the Claimants are declarations in the folkming terms:

I) That the lien on the collateral pledged by the Plaintiffs should be
discharged given the breach of fiduciary and/or statutory duty and/or
negligence;

2) That the Plaintiffs should be discharged from the guarantees given by
them in contemplation of this loan;

3) That the Cross Pen Property should be returned to the Plaintiff

Evidcnce for the Claimants

Lue's Witness Statement, on the other hand, said that the demand Joan in question

\Vas made to Property in thc sum of twenty million dollars (S20,000,000.00) at a rate

of 68%. He says. ho\Vever. thilt the loan \\as not credited to thc Claimants' bank

account. Rather. the Claimant \\as advised to \\fite cheques and the Bank \\ "del

honour the cheques. It is claimed that this created an c1\erdraft for Property which was

then subjected to the overdraft interest rate of 120°1,) rather than the regular IOiln

interest rate as applied on previous loans secured by the Claimants.

In addition to the loan of April 1994, the Lue V/itness Statement ackncmledges

further loans of $2,800.000.00 in or about October 10, 1994 in exchange for "signed

and scaled promissory note and dcbenture document"; a demand loan to Buildings in
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the SUIll of S2S.000,OOO.OO on February I, J 995 agJin in exc:h(lnge f'uJ" proll1:..,soJ"Y

note and debenture dllcul11cntatinn. at an interest rate Cli' 52°0 per annum, and in

respect of which non-rerundablc commitment Cee or S140,625 \\as paid: demand

loans on i\larch 23. 1995 to Property in the anwlInt nr S II,(lo().oon (In :lI:d 1,;

C)uarry ing ror S I I.UOO,()(j().OO 1\ lth in[ccst rate 01 4 l )'>o per annulll. Llie also say s that

on A.pril 19, 1995, he provided a promissory note to the bank in the sum or

$10,000,000.00 at an interest rate of 30% per annum for \\hich he paid a non­

refundable commitment fee of $112.500.00. In addition to these loans from the Bank.

Lue also acknowledged that on May 1995, he took a personal loan from I-Jorizon

Building Society in order to partially satisfy demands for repayment made by the

Bank. In order to secure this loan, he pledged real property at 11 Omara Road in the

parish of St. Andrew and Lot 31 J Prospect in the parish or St. Thomas.

\;Ir. Lue finally admits in his witness statement that his attorneys, Fraser and

Aitcheson, on May 17, 1996 made a proposal to the Bank for "full and final

settlement of all debts owcd by me and my companies in the amount of

$95,000,000.00" and the proposal was accepted on July 4, 1996. by the bank.

However, the proposal was never acted upon as the Claimants were unable to get the

appropriate funding.

The Lue \Vitness Statement contains several other allegations including a projection

of lost profits ror dcvelopments not undertaken, in the sum of almost one billion

dollars. For cxample, he says that because the Dcrcndant Bank did not finance his

Savannah Villas development \\hich \\as to provide funding to pay the debt of $95

million which agreed to liquidate in July 1996, he lost S133 million. He says he lost

5800 million on not developing Garel' Pen, though there is nothing in the cvidence to

connect this 1\ ith any of the Defendants. In any event. even if then: lIere any

relationship, it is trite law that pure economic loss is irrecovcrable as being tol

remote. He also claims for loss of, and the cost of required repairs to. construction

equipment in Spanish Town: loss orhis high credit rating: lay ing offofhis workforce;

hospitalization for Jiabetes in 1997, 1998 and 1999; burdensome mcdical biJ Is to

which his f~lmiJy now has to contribute. Regrettably, none of these allegations are

substantiated nor is there any credible evidence creating an) nexus with the rest of the

Claim.
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One cfthe teatures \\hich the Court !lilted \\3S the amount ofhearsJ) e\idcllcc \\hi c ll

is c(1J1tained in the !-irst Claimant's \\itlle'·s statement and the diiiicu:i\ at tin,cs

cJcl'iphcr-iI1g some ot'the l(lmmcllt~. It is rccngnizcd thJt cc'uibeL r'~l'lIr';L', J,"cs m,t

\\Tite a client's witness st:ltelTicnl, but needs to ensure that it cUlTlplies \\ ith the normal

rules of evidence. One interesting omission from the \\itness st:1tclllent s th3t

although the Statement of Claim asks for the "return 01 the Cross Pen Property" this

property is not mentioned in the Lue witness statement to show what had hapflened to

the property and why it should be returned. Based uflon the signed mortgages and

other security documents exhibited, hO\\ever. it seems clear to the court that there

were valid grants of these securities.

The other witnesses for the Claimants were Louis Bell, chief accountant of the Lue's

Group of Companies, a witness of fact. and Kaye Soares, a financial consultant who

gave evidence about what transpired after he was retained to deal with the Group's

alleged indebtedness. Bell ga\e evidence about the setting up of the bank account

with the bank, the subsequent borrowings for the various projects and in particular,

the evidence concerning the loan of S20,000,000.00 for Midland Glades Housing

Development. He gave evidence that commitment letter and promissory note for the

demand loan were duly signed and returned to the Bank on i\ovember 29, 1993. As

additional security for the loan there was given a first mortgagc un land at lot 3,

Denbigh registered at Volumc 475 Folio 27: an assignmcnt of proceeds fl'om sale of

housing units to the extent of the company's indebtedness to the Bank; Lue's full and

unconditional guarantee and peril insurance with the Bank's interest noted thereon.

He confirms that rate of interest was 68°;"0 but avers that the loan was never credited to

the Property account. The eflect was that when cheques were dr,l\\ n thereon, it

created an overdraft which was made suhject to o\erdralt interest of 120~o. He states

in his e\idence ~hat this led to Property paying SI0.365.207.IG more in interest than it

ought to have paid. There is no explanation in the statement as to the period to \"hich

this excess is said to have applied, though the statement sets out interest charges for

months up to and including r\.1arch 1996.

All the available evidence, however, indicates that there was a reallocation of the

Group's indebtedness in or around April 1994. There is no evidence as to the status of
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the o\crdraft. if any. at that time, and so it is not ckar \\ hy 'che p\.'riods after that. and

up to !'vlarch 1996 \\ ould be relevant. This is not explained. There are also que'.tiol1s

as to the \\ itncss' credibility in relation to his testimony on a previous t~lCility of

S6.000,:IOOOO which ;dl i1gree had been full: IC11:lid Jnd is twt ;1Il issue in this c~l>e

With respect to that facility. the \\itness had said that unly 52.563.00000 "\\;\5

credited to L.P.L's account", IIO\\cver. under cruss examination he had to

acknowledge that page 13 of Exhibit I, the letter from i\.lr. Stc\\ art tu the Bank dated

September 30, 1992. did indicate that there \\ere at least two draw-downs of $1,5

!'vIillion each approved by the Bank.

In any event, his evidence in re-examination befure the Court, seemed to indicate that

in April 1994 after the loan of S20,000,000,OO had been negotiated and the then

indebtedness of the Group of S34,000,000,OO was re-allocated between Property and

Quarrying, all Property received \\as about $704,000,00 while two loans for

$10,000,000,00 and $5,000,000.00 were repaid as well as interest of "two point some

odd million" out of the SI8,000,000.00 allocated to it as its share of indebtedness.

What struck me in relation this witness who is an accountant. is that he seemed to

hold the view that the only way a facility extended by a bank to a customer could be

given effect, would be by placing the funds in the customer's account.

\1ow it must be clear that if the bank says that it will honour cheques up to a certain

amount notwithstanding the lack of funds in the account that \\ ill also be the grant of

a "facility or accommodation", (The question then would become whether by

allowing the customer to run an overdraft subject to the higher interest rates, rather

than the 68% agreed on f( '1" a demand loan, the Bank breached its contract with the

customer). ] make this point here in light of the fact of a letter from Lue's property

Ltd. dated July 13, 1993, L\.hibit PC:? of Paul Chin's \\ itness statement and signed by

Cleve Stevvart in which he requested that "the present o\crdraft f~lCility be transferred

to a demand loan with a repayment date of November 4, J993". The letter also askecI

for an "additional facility of five million dollars b) \\ay of a demand nute mature on

November 4. 1993", It is instructive to note that the letter states: "The facility at '2'

above vvill only be used if the proposed sale of the twenty units to 1\'ational Housing

Trust is not approved by their board", It is axiomatic that this did not contemplate the

placing of the five million in an account since it would attract interest charges from
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the date it \Ias so plctced. \\hC:"C]5 if it \Ias onl: liscd in thc c:rculllSlJl1ces

cOiltemplated. th'': interest would

Slk'h liser.

,
("'Ii i \ run fn n the eLlle or: and c,n the am(1l!)ll or

BcflJre looking at the delC;lccs tiled in relation to the statement of claim. I nl.'cd tu

confess some difficulty with the pleadings .,ct out in the said statement of claim \\hich

are often, quite imprecise. 11 is often neither clear what is the theory of liability being

advanced nor the precise facts upon \\hich any liability may be said to rest. Is it a

breach of a duty of confidence or a duty of confidentiality? lias there been a breach of

a duty of care based upon the "confidence reposed in the Bank" to give proper ,;d\ice,

or a breach of a duty of "confidentiality" for which, as far as I am aware, there is no

I d ') F~ h .. II' h' I I' I nd rd IIIcommon aw uty: 'lnt er, It IS not at a certall1 to w IC 1 calmant, t 1e:2 ,3 or 4 ,

the term "Plaintiff Company" in paragraph 42, cited at paragraph 3 in the immediately

preceding section of this judgment refers.

As far as the 41h DefCndant is concerned. it docs not admit the averments made in the

statement of claim and on the available evidence was not an assignee of the loans, the

subject matter of the c lai m by the Claimants. The 41il Defendant also denied an:

contractual arrangements between itself and the Claimants or any of them. Nor does

the 4!il Defendant have any interest in any of the loans the subject of the claims hy the

Claimants or any security therefor. Indeed. there was no evidence led that the 41h

Defendant was in any way implicated in the dealings hetween the Claimants and the

Defendants. There was. indeed, some correspondence in the agreed hundle of

documents at page 145-149, a letter on FIN SAC letterhead which counsel for the 1S\
3rd and 4th Defendants submits and the court accepts. \\ as merely the 4th Defendant

dcting "as agent" fllr the .3 'd Defendant and not in its (mn capacity. Once this is

accepted, it becomes clear that the I,t and 3'd Defendants are the "real deCendants" in

this action and it is to the defence filed nn their behalf that \lC must now turn our

attention.

The 1'1 and Jrd Defendantsjoin issue on all the significant "l\erments of the Llaimants.

Counsel for these defendants denies that there has been any breach of trust,

negligence or breaches of statutory or fiduciary duty by them In fact she says, the

"particulars of trust and confidence" pleaded in Claimants' statement of claim arc not
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supported hy (lny evidence adduced by Claimants. She further avers thelt all)

relationship between the ISI Defendant and the 1st Cla:Il1'int. Luc, \\ as a !wrm:iI

banker/customer relationsh ip and that there is no evidence ,>1 an) further reliance

IIp\ln the bank or allY officer thcI"Cof ()ver and Jho\c th:1t 11(11'111:11 rc!:ltionshij'. Thcr'-, is

a denial as \\ ell that there has been an) bl-cach 01 a duty or care giving rise to a

sustainable claim in negligence against the 1st and 3'J Dcfendants. Further, it was

submitted that based upon the Claimants' own pleadings and the 3dmissions

contained in the letter from their then counsel dated July 1995, the Defendants are

entitled to judgment in their favour.

Defendants' counsel in the course of her opening submissions also submitted that the

Claimants had actually aCKnowledged their indebtedness to the 15t Defendant. Further,

in answer to the Claimants' averment that the debts had been assigned to the 3'd and

4th defendants without the consent or approval of the claimants, counsel also denied

that there \,vas any assignment to the 4th defendant or any legal obligation on the part

of the lIt Defendant to so advise the Claimants of any such deci~ion to assign. In 3n)

event, it appears that Claimants have conceded that this claim is not sustainable as

there was evidence before this court of a court order \\hich formed the basis of the

assignment.

Eyidence for the Defendants

The witness of fact for the Defendants was Paul Chin, a senior manager of Dennis

Joslin Jamaica Inc, the agent of Jamaica Redevelopment Foundation Inc. In his

witness statemcnt, Chin stated that based upon the records of thc Bank, the principal

indebtedness of was in the sum of S 15,000,000.00 by the end of July, 1993. He points

l1l1t that b) letter d3ted ]'\ovember 29, 1993, Property had \\ritten to the Bank

requesting a "standby facility to the extent ul' 520 million, to he apprO\ ed \\ ith initial

drawdown to commence the first \vcek of December". Lue in his \\itness statement

refers to a demand luan \\hich he claimed the BanK had approved and, in respect of

which, on November 29, 1993, "LPL signed, sealed and delivered 311 documcntation

for the demand loan of $20 million to IV13", Paul Chin in his witness statement also

says that the loan "was approved". \Vhen one looks at the letter of J\'O\ember 29,

1994, howc\cr, from Property, there is no reference to "demand loan" at all. Rather, it

clearly refers to a "standby facility" in respect of which there h3d already been a
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disbursement or SU)2(),7,~6.00 "to complete the JCLjuisition of the I::n,f' fl)r the

1\,licibnd C!acks hou')ing ck\elol'lllcnt.

.\ecu)"ding tl1 Chin, :\.pri i 199·~. the indehtcdnes:-, uf' p:'oj'ert} \\:h .11 C\C~'S', u( S'~

l11illilin, d'1J thcre \\ ere ,1i'p!iC,ltI1 1I1S h} jJrnperl;. :lllU ()u:m: ill; :.lI' j, ,in" if S 1 S

million and S] 6 millie'l respecti\el). This dppears :.0 be C,Jlisistent \\ ith the

applicatiun dakd April 13, 1994 signed by f\1ichacl Scott and Nlmnan Nelson, in

which the Group ackncmledged the then indebtedness of Properly to be about

$34,198,218.00. Pursuant to these applications, it was contemplated that the debt

would be split betvveen Property and Quarrying. (Sec Exhibit PC 6 of Paul Chin's

witness statement). In its application for a demand loan of S 16,000,000.00. Quarrying

stateu:

"We are requesting that an amount of sixteen million dollars he transferred
from Lue's Property Limited to Lue's Stone and Quarrying Limited. The
purpose is to reduce the total indebtedness of Lue's Property Limited and
place the obligation in its true perspective".

Given the ackno\.\ Icdgment of a total indebtedness of $34 million, the fact that S16

million was allocated to Quarrying meant that the application for the SI8 million

demand loan was in respect of debts then owed by Property. Louis Bell's evidence fur

the Claimants, in this regard, is that of the loan amount 01'$18 million to Property, the

amount credited to its account was in fact only $747.452.80 which was the sum left

after paying out the follow ing items:

a) Demand Loan Bay View Gardens
b) Demand Loan Bay View Gardens
c) Interest on Loan Bay Vicw C;ardens

Total

10,000,000.00
5.000.000.00
2,2';2.547.20

17,252,547.20

In his evidence, Louis 8ell had stated that the payments of S17.252.547.20. \\ere

"deducted" from the $18,000.000.00 \.\ hich was being allocated to Property. But this

makes no sense, as those su ms cou Id not be taken from wha t \\as a Iread y, an

indebtedness. The effect, therefore, must have been to liquidate the old liabilit: and to

create a new liability in the sum of the new loans for both companies.

There is a certain level of confusion and even conflict in the evidence, in the v\itness

statements and the documents allegedly supporting averments therein, as between the

Claimants and the Defendants, and even within the witness statement of the

defendants' witness. According to Mr. Paul Chin's evidence, the sum of $34, 198.2 J 8
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\\ J': "currentl) outstanding" on April 12, I9C)~ at a time \\ hen the bank \\ ~1S

considering the additional "'Iuan" to Quarrying. The rcle\3nt bank :JCCOllllt statement

1'01' Property as or April 12. 19')--1 docs s!lo\\ an overdraft or S] 6, 187,02' But \ 1r.

Chin's \\itness statement refers tn "E-;hibit PC T' to his \\ilneSS qatenll'nt \\hj~h he

claims is a '"cupy of the letter t~J that c('npan) (Property) and signed b) Lue's

Property Ltd. indicating its agreement to the terms of the loan to it of S18\1"'. The

purport of the reference to "the letter" in the witness statement is that the whole Icl1er

is there but in fact, all that is attached is the signature page \vith t\\ 0 signatures.

Moreover, the page attached is a copy of the letter addressed, not to Property but to

Quarrying. What is more curious, however, is that in respect of the purported signed

acceptance in respect of an alleged SI6 million loan, the commitment fee was said to

be SI80,000.00. Now, it is clearly the evidence that the commitment fcc in relation to

these loans is I~'o, so a jee of$180,000.00 must refer to a loan 01'$18 million. It is, of

course, Mr. Chin's own evidence that the $18 million loan was for Property, not for

Quarrying. This is supported by the application of April 13, 199~ to which reference

is made belm\'. In the next paragraph of his witness statement, Mr. Chin states:

"A letter from IVB to Lue's Stone & Quarrying dated April 25,1994
(responding to Lue's Stone & Quarrying Ltd. 's letter of April 5, 1994)
approved its request for financing by way of a demand loan in the sum of S 16
million and its terms were accepted by Lue's Stone & Quarrying Ltd. I
exhibit hernvith marked PC8 a copy of both letters".

In fact, the letters exhibited \\ere, one addressed to the Bank from Quarrying dated

April 5, 1994 requesting a loan of S16 million and one [rom fhe Bank to PropelJJ::

approving a loan of SJ8 milhon with a commitment fee of I% plus GeT.

Notwithstanding the untidiness and even apparent confusic'n here, there arc t\\O

promissory notes evidencing promises to pay S18 million and $16 million

respectively, on the part or Property and Quarrying. The loans \\ere also cross­

guaranteed and subject to the personal guarantee or Henry Lue as \\ell as a mortgage

over property at Volume 475 Folio 27 of the Register Book of Titles. It is perhaps

instructive that Chin's statement in paragraph 26 stated that both Property and

Quarrying "were granted overdraft f~lcilities by the Bank separate (and apart from the

demand loans) to fund their working capital needs". The evidence for this assertion is

not given. In respect to these two (2) demand loans, however, Mr. Chin states: "The

Bunk '.\ record\' do nof indicate {he demand loans having been charged to {heir
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iJi~I}III1(S (/( am lime''' (cmphasis l::in,.;) It is not al ail clear to me \\hat this means.

The slJtcmcnt alsc) Ci ll1Ccdcs that an illle:cst r~l1e r I=VJ(l I'cr 2iJI1l!ii1 \\ as ch~lrgC'd :~:

lue's Proper!) het\\i.:ell Febru~H) ::>~ 1l)'J~ and September I~. i t)i,q "Cll1 sllch p:lrl "f

the cunlp~ln~'~ ()\crdra(' as (:_~\cccdcd the ({C~·()!)s''i/_l~_~_{~!j_0i/·. ()( Cl)LJj·::·C~ u:ll::~~\

the \\llneSS \\as rekrring to the purponed standby credit of S2() million \\hieh !Lld

been applied tor and approved, there \\as no evidence that a "Iine of credit" had been

"arranged". I urkJcrstand the witness to be referring to that sum. Thus, at paragraph 28

of his \\ itness statement Chin says: "The Bank's records indicate that the loan

proceeds were credited to the current accounts ofLue's Property Ltd. and Lue's Stone

and Quarrying Ltd". Then in paragraph 37, while not talking about a loan at all, he

says: "The Bank credited the loan proceeds to the current accounts of Lue's Property

Limited and Luc's Stone & Quarr) ing Limited". The \vitness statement does not

indicate where in the records this is shown, nor is it clear which "loans" are being

referred to. With respect to the interest rate of 120~'O referred to above, the statement

cites "an internal memorandum of the Bank dated March 28, 1996 \vhich

acknowledged that there had been an overpayment to the extent of $7.42 million on

interest charged to the Claimants. The Claimants can, in my view, rely upon this

admission as indicating an error, at least to that extent, on the part ufthe Bank.

There wcre subsequent loans to the Group. Thus, in 1\1arch 1995, Buildings negotiated

and received a loan of $25 millioll. This was collateralized by the guarantee of

Property supported by an instrument of mortgage o\er property at Rules Pen ill the

Parish of Clarendon and registered at Volume 1278 Folio ] 8~ of the Register Book (If

Titles, as well as a promissory note of Henry Lue.

With respect to other security held by the Bank. the return of \\ hich the Claimants arc

claiming, Chin's \\ itness statement acknowledges that the 13ank was holding three

titles. Volume i 036 Folios 650-652 in respect of a debt \)f $2 8 million o\\ed to the

Bank by Chrijohlis Limited.

Mr. Chin's \\ itness statement also acknowledges that the Bank received two payments

of $] 0 111 iII ion and $12 m i" ion from the Claimants. Further. that by a letter dated 1'1 ay

15, 1996, the Bank \\as advised of the difficulties which the Property was
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cx.perlcncll1g III servIcing its debts. and seeking the bank's ('urbcarance during its

period of diJliculty.

Fin:11Iy. by ktter dated July 4, I()l)(i the [L1Ill< made J propus:l! 1\lr sl'llkmcilt l f till

debt o\\ed by the Claimants and this \\(\s accepted by the Claimants' then attorneys by

a letter dated July 4. 1996. That agreement has not been honoured as the Claimants

failed to ray in full or on time, the first instalment due.

Through Mr. Chin, the Defendants also deny ever having received any complaints in

writing from the Claimants of any errors or omissions in relation to their bank

statements. It is also dcnied that the Bank ever told Lue or anyone on his behalf to go

ahead and write cheques on accounts which might have been overdrawn. The alleged

indebtedness of all the Claimants IS given in Chin's witness statement giving a total

liability of over $144 million as at March 2002, and averring that no part of that

indebtedness has been paid since that time.

Counsel for the defendants contends that the fundamental issues which the court has

to consider arc as follows:

.:. Were the Claimants indebted to the defendants or any of them')

.:. Did the 15
[ defendant properly assign the indebtedness to the 3rd Defendant'7

.:. Are the guarantecs, debentures and mortgages granted by thc Claimants \alid

and enforceable and if so, by whom?

.:. Was there any relationship giving rise to any rights or obligation whether in

contract, tort or under statute between the Claimants and the 41h DefendJnt.

FI!\SAC Limited')

I also believe that an issue which is to be cJlwassed is \vhether.. if the an~\\er to the

first of the questions ahove is in the artJrmJtive, the Claimants (01' any of them) h;:1\ e

acknO\vledged that said indebtedness. It is my vie\\ that based upon the evidence,

indeed even the evidence of the I S[ Claimant himself the anS\VCf to the first of the

foregoing questions is in the affirmative. I havc also formed the vie\\ that there has

been an acknowledgment of indebtedness by the First Claimant both on his 0\\ n

behalj~ and on behalf of the other companies in the Group as will become apparent

\\hen I deal with Defendants' counsel's submissions on the issue of a real account

stated. I have also previously indicated that based upon the cvidence of rvIr. Paul Chin
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and the e~:hibits attached thereto as \\\.'11 as the cvidcncc of LUi::. th3t the gUdrJntees.

debentures :Jnd mortgages grantl'd by the Cl3lmanh 31T \~l!id ~,:1d enfeJrceabk b) th~

yJ Defendant, Rc1Jn Trust LiJl1lted. it still remains to c,)n'iJer \\hethcr an) of the

CIJill1ants' claims hcl\e been Jl1 clck out, lt \\ ill he IC'c'alled that tile clalill:11l[~'

statemcilt of claim :!lkged th:lt the defendants \\ ere I;egligcnt: \\CI'e in breach of their

fiducial') duty: \vere in breach of contract and breached their sLltutor) duty.

Negligence

As I understand the Claimants' statement of claim, the allegation of negligence is

contained in paragraph 36 and 37 and is in the following terms:

That the indebtedness of the (Claimants) has been caused b) the bad advice
and conduct of the 151 and 2nd Defendants to finance the 1\.1 id land Glades
Housing Scheme development on an o\c:rdrart facilit), not by a loan which
the (Claimants) applied for, and had been apprO\ed by the 151 and 2nd

defendants at the rate of 68(% but instead applied the overdraft rate of 120%
per annum and by illegally compounding interest, and further redistributing
his debt under duress.

That as a result of the negligence of the I q and yd Defendants in that the)
failed to exercise the necessary duty of care and the breach of fiduciary
duties, the Midland Glades I lousing Scheme \vas completed and all the
proceeds paid over to the Bank and the (Claimants) are still heavily indebted,
have suffered loss, injury and were put to great expense

The Claimants then list eight (8) specific particulars of negligence on the part of the

Defendants, \vhich particulars have already been set out above. It should be noted that

several of these particulars ovcrlap. Thus, for example. the drawing of chel]ues and

the creation of an overdraft and the non-supervision of an account by a bank on behalf

of its customer, are different perspectives of the same issue. I mList mention that the

suggestion that the Bank was negligent in not advising a businessman \\ho had been

in busincss for ovcr twen() ) ears to seek independellt legal advice, \\ hCll there is

evidence that he did have access to attorneys, is at the \er) least. absurd.

In relation to these pleadings of negligence, \\hat is the e\idcnce) Lue in his \\ itness

statement stated:

"On Novcmber 29, 1993, LPL signed, sealed and delivered all
relevant documentation for the demand loan of $20,000,000.00
to IV13. The interest rate was 68% per annum. A non-refundable
commitment fee of $200,000.00 was charged. Although LPL
accepted LV.8.'s offer of a demand 103n of $20,000,000.00 on
0lovember 29. 1993. this amount was never credited to LP.L.'s

15



current accollnt as IVB opted to calT) all overdraft at interest rate
of 12(Jl!Ic, per 3nnum".

lie stated that the loan was used to cover overdraft "created by f\1r. Sasso", It is not

clear from! lIC'S nidl:l1lT 11('\\ s~!SSU "creatl'd the C\CrcJ:':llt", Wlut is cklr (rum

Luc's evidence is that. at a point in or around Apri] 1994. he \vas advised b) the Bank

through its then president and chier executive officer of new requirements of the

Regulator, the Bank of Jamaica. Pursu3nt to these requirements, there was a need to

reallocate the $34,000,000.00 indebtedness discussed above, among at least two (2)

companies within the group. As a result of the new regulations, Mr. Lue said there

was a need to place limitations on the indebtedness of any single cllstumer. Mr. Paul

Chin in his witness statement on behalf of the 3rd Defendant stated that the decision to

redistribute the loa:1 was done at the request of Quarrying, but I believe that this was

merely a characterization of what was said in the documentation, I do find some

support from the witness statement of Ronald Sasso, (the former 2nd Defendant and

former President of the Bank, and \\ho has been discharged from the suit, but whose

witness statement was admitted into evidence by agreement between the parties), that

the reallocation was eflected because of a need to comply with new Bank of Jamaica

regulations.

It is trite law that he who alleges must prove. The Claimants appear to have fallen

woefully short of providing the court with e\ idence on a balance of probabilities, that

any problem experienced with the \1idland Glades development was due to an)

increase in the interest rate from that allegedly contracted for under the "stand h)

facility" and any other rate charged on such sums as may have represented overdraft

Indeed, Mr. fue's own witness statement lists a numher of other factors \\hici could

have impacted upon the viability of the dcv('lopmenl. No cvidence has been led as to

what was the dollar differential between the projections for the scheme, as cnnceivcd,

and the eventual out-turn. This is important because, even on the Claimants' C\idencc,

at the time on i\'o\embcr 29, 1993 \\h('n Property sought to fc)rmalize the stilndby

facility, it had already drawn do\\n on disbursements 01 Jlmost $2 million. Claimants

have not said that the 120~'O rate \V3S applied on any defined sum for a defined period

so as to give rise to a specific amount of damages. Sasso's evidence is that the rate

\\as applied in relation to those outst3nding loan sums which \\ere not being serviced
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and :IS a result or which, h:cause the Bank would be rllnn;ng an o\crJratt with the

lL:nk of J:imaica. it \\ oliid pass t!lis rate (If interest to the loans \\ hich \\ cre not heing

paid up. Indeed. in the Sincldir case (sec. belol\ J, the Pri\ > Council acknu\\ Icdt:"cd

,hell, i:1 [!i:~t case. "high rat.s 01 intercst \\ ere p:,n!y c'.rlic:Jhk b; the high r::tc :'(

inflation in Jamaica Juring this period. and the high rates of interest which the Bank

of Jdma ica charged to co 111 III ercia I banks, espec jal! y iI' they \\Cllt outs id e the centml

bank's guidelines". The facts giving rise to this case were, of course, taking place

during the same historical period as the Sinclair case.

In any event, it is not clear to mc how thc need to comply \\ lih a directive of the

Regulator can be brought \\ ithin the concept of duty of care, breach and damages. In

relation to the November 1993 loan, there was evidence from the Claimants' own

documents that they had requested a "standby facility". Based on Sasso's witness

statement I accept that there is evidence that the Claimants were encouraged to use an

overdraft "as a means of obtaining loans for his companies in the formative stages of

the luan accounts". However, there is nothing to lead the court to conclude that the

usc of an overdraft for an entire project was advised by the Bank or that the Claimants

should continue drawing cheques on their current account in funding the Midland

Glades development. I also understand Sasso's evidence to be that these loans \\ ere

periodically converted to demand loans and that by judicious usc 01 an overdraft

facility, the Claimants could avoid having to pay interest on the full amount of a

demand loan \\hich they \\ould have to pay once the loan was credited to their

account. although they might not need all of the loan sum immediately I regard this

as slraightforward commercial common ~ense practice. I do not accept that the Bank

had encouraged him to just keep \\Titing cheques ilTespective of the state oj" the

Claimants' accounts. \Jor do! accept that a bank h:l" any dut\ to "supervisc" a client's

account to ensure that said account docs not "exceed its limits". [ also hold that there

\\as no negligent charging oj""pena'" interest rates, "without adequate nut ice".

With respect to the claim th:lt commitment fees were "negligently charged" because

when demand loans might have been used to payoff or replace overdrafts. the

Claimants received no "benefit". this is a misunderstanding of how banks operate.

Counsel for the claimants sought vali:.lI1tly, in cross examining Paul Chin, to get him

to agree to the proposition that where there was a pre-existing obligation created, for
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cXdmpic by the b~lIlk having allm\ cd an 0\ er draft, if this \\as subsequent!) c(I:1\crtcd

intu a demand loan, there \\oulJ be no basis klr the payment of' a commit:nent fcc,

sillce the converted overdr:lft l1J"o\ided no "addition:d benefit". This betrays a

singular lack ()fappreci:l1iu,~ of the normal banking practice. It is st:llldard pr:lctice fnr

as commitment fee tu be relJuired because it is the granting of a separate i:1l'ilil)

\\hich is time bound and interest rate bound. whereas with an overdraft. the hank may.

at least in the absence of an) agreement to the contrary. require the immediate

liquidation of that overdraft.

There are allegations in the Statement of Claim concerning the Bank holding titles at

Cross Pen in the Parish of St. Catherine; Rules Pen in Clarendon and j\lidland Glades

in Clarendon. There is no averment that the Defendants had a duty to complete a

transfer of the Cross Pen properties which are in the name of a company, Chrijohlis

Limited. In cross examination, Lue was asked whether he was aware that Chrijohlis

was itself indebted to the Bank. and he said he was not a\\aIT. There is no evidence

that the Defendants "negligently failed to complete the transfer" of the said property.

The statement of claim merely avers that "the Cross Pen property registered at

Volume 1036 Folios 650.651 and 652 was not transferred tu the 2nJ PIJintiff and the

Bank has refused to release these titles to effect the transfer to the 1"" Claimant. [n

light of the foregoing, any claim in relation to that property must fail. There is no

allegation that there \\as a duty to return the said security to the Claimants or indeed

to anyone of them. and how that duty was breached. In Lie!. \1r. Lue's o\\n evidence

in relation to his inability to fund his other projects was to the effect that: "because of

the Lue's Group's situation vvith LV.B. we were unable to obtain funding from an)

other financial institution to finance the Savannah Villas Development, despite

several applications locally :md o\erscas'·. \1oreover, he acknowledges: "1 \\as

kneed to close all of my bUS'llcsses in .Januar) 1997 with the exception 01' Lue's

Transport ,lnd Equipment Limited due to inability to obtain funding and illness". This

seems to provide compelling explanations for the difficulties e\entually experienced

by the Claimants. Any losses or expenses arising from the closure of the 1st

Claimant's businesses, \\hether because of theft of equipment or the need to repair

because of non-activity, are wholly irrecoverable, and [ so hold. In sum, I find that the

Claimants have failed to show that the Defendants or any of them is guilt) of

negligence as alleged or at all. The issue of negligence is also relevant 111
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considerdtiun (lfthe allc~eJ brcac'!l oftiduci,n:, duty 3.~sertcd b:, ,he CI:1:l11anl-:. agajn~;t

the clcfCndants.

flrCl"lJ-,f 1 iduc iallDlI0.-

["he SL1!L'Ilicnt c,f~ cJaiill ~.l]lc~~(:s th:lt thcfL' \\a,) J r::l(llj(!!~:"hlp or trust and l~l)ntJdl":'~I':

bct\\een the (First')) Claimant and the Bank. Paragraph 10 of the pleadings "ets (Wl

\\hat arc alleged to be eight (8) particulars of that relationship. These Jre said to be:

I. The Plaintiffs had grown over the years with the support
of the Bank manifested in readily Jvailabie loans and
other forms of cooperation.

11. The Plaintiffs joined the Bank from the inception and at
the personal encouragement of Bul"! Bryan the Credit
Officer. to whom the l s! Plaintiff was personally
introduced.

Ill. The close personal relationship between the 151 Plaintiff
and members of staff at all levels in its branch where the
Plaintiffs banked, its corporate headquarters and other
centralized departments of the Bank.

IV. The close personal relationship with Burt Bryan who at
the material time was Credit Officer at the Bank's New
Kingston Branch. where the Plaintiffs account was
located.

v. The special treJtment granted to the Plaintiffs in the
management of their accounts and liabilities prior to the
time of the transfer of the Plaintiffs' liabilities from the
Bank. to the 3rd and 41h Defendants

VI The reliant attitude of the lSI Plaintiffon his bankers.
vii. The relicll1t attitude towards bankers b\ older

businessmen. such as the lSI Plainti if. wh ich is now
large]: of the past but still existent today.

VIII. The Bank's awareness, through its officers and servants
of the abovementioneL; Particulars of [rust and
Confidence.

These averments are purportedly supported by a list of the ilileged bornl\\ings by the

Claimants from the defendant Bank starting frol11 1992. There seems to have been no

issue until the alleged borrowings for the r\1idland Clades housing development in

\'ovember 1993. Counsel fix the Defendants submitted further. that even if all the

allegations in the particulars of a relationship of trust and confidence vvere

established, this did not amount to Jny special relationship over and above the normal

relationship of banker and customer. I agree with both submissions. There is nothing

in the particulars which raises it above this level. Further, there are some averments in

the pleadings of which no evidence has been adduced. For example, no evidence had

been led in relation to paragraphs (iii) (iv) (v) (vi) (vii) or (viii).Thus, for example, the
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pleadings spe~\k to the 'reliant attitude lCi.I'-lIds b:.Jilkers b: ulder businessmen such as

the 1>1 Plailltil1, which is now Imge:y orthe past, but still existent lOde!:"'.:\o evidcnce

of this genera) alleged "reli:ml attitude" nor hem this CI:J:m:1nt. Lllc. exhibited that

reliance. Indeed. [\·11'. I lie ,lid Iwt'!:lrt out in )992. ~h "':1I1 (llder bLhine.)c.l1l..Jn·'. I k \I:h

an experienced businessman \\ ho had been in businec.s jjom the 1970s and had dealt

II ith Alpart Alumina Company, a multinational corpCJration. The Bank. on the other

hanJ, lIas nell having only started in the earl) 1990s.

I accept the submission of counsel f(Jr the lSI. 3 rd and 4: h Defendants that the criteria

which would allow a court to tlnd that there had heen the alleged negligence, were

articulated in the recent Jamaican case which went to the Judicial Committee of the

Privy Council, Sational Commercial Bank (Jamaica) Ltd. v Ravrnond Hew and

Clinton Hew (as executors of the estate of Stephen Hew (deceased) and Ravrnond

Hew. (Privv Council Appeal 65 of 2002). In that case, delivering the advice of the

Board, Lord Millett, in dealing with the issue of negligence pleaded against a bank.

said.

The legal context in which this question falls to be decided is
well established. In Banbur}' v Bank of Mont rca! [1918] AC 626
Lord Finlay LC said at p 654:

"While it is not part orthe ordinary business ora
hanker tu give adl ice to customers as to
investments generally, it appears to me to be
clear that there may be occasions I\hen advice
may be given by a banker as such and in the
course of his business ... If he undertakes to
advise. he must exercise reasonable care and
skill in giving the advice. lIe is under no
obligation tu advise, but ifhe takes upon himself
to do so, he Ilill ineur liabilit) if he docs so
negligently."

In relation to a failure to ad\ise a customer. Warne & Elliott
Banklllg Litigotioll (1999) states at p 28:

"A banker cannot be liable for failing to advise a
custumer if he owes the customer no duty to do
so. Generally speaking, banks du not owe their
customers a duty to advise them on the wisdom
of commercial projects for the purpose of II hidl
the bank is asked to lend them money. If the
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bililk is to be placed undcr such a dUly. tl1cl'c
must he a request from the customer. accepted
by the bank. under \\hich the aJ\ lee i', to be
gl\ en.

It is. thcrcj()t"'..:. not suflicient to render the Bank liable: to 1\11'
Jfew in negligence that 1\1:" Cobham knew or ought to have
knc)\\n that the development of Barrett Town \\ ith the bO!Tcl\\eJ
funds was not a viable proposition. It must be shown either that
I'dI' Cobham advised that the project \\ as viable, or that he
assumed an obligation to advise as to its viability and failed to
ad vise that it was not. The il' Lordsh ips have exam ined the
transcripts of the trial with care, and have failed to find am
cvidenee to support any such finding.

As in that case so in this onc, there is no cvidcnce of the Bank having been requested

by the Claimants or any of them, nor the Bank acceding to such request. to give

advice in relation to the viability of the Midland Glades housing development. There

is no such evidence. As his lordship succinctly summed up the matter in paragraph 27

of the opinion:

In the circumstances their Lordships can find no suppurt in the
evidence for a finding that Mr Cobham advised iv1r Jfew as to the
wisdom of developing Barrett Town or that the Bank assumed a
duty to do so. This is sufncient to dispose of the claim i()r
negligence;

In other words, in the ubsence of evidence of the Bank giving advice un the project or

Jssuming a duty so to do, a claim in negligence is unsustainable. ~or is there an)

implication to be dravvn from the fact that thL Bank allowed Mr. Lue to draw cheques

on his account. as to either the viability of the project nor the giving of advice on its

financing. It should be noted here that one of the assertions in the instant case is that

pursuant to the '"demand loan", described in the documents as a "standby facility".

funds were not placed in the account. Rather. an ovcrdral! \\ as extcnded to the

Claimants. There is evidence from the Bank's witness on this point, that using thc

overdraft route on which interest would only be paid \\ hen used, \\dS mr)rc

advantageous than taking a fixed loan upon \\hich interest would have to be paid frol11

davone.

In rebtion to the allegation of breach of fiduciary duty, I note the averments in the

statement of claim that the Claimant, Lue, was "forced and coerced by the] SI and 2nd
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defendants to usc the yJ and 4:)] PLiintilTs \0 U,)SS gU~Hantee the i\ilidland ClJdc:, l'la l ]

so as to allow the I \1 and 2nJ dcf(:ndants allegedly tl) satisf:, the alleged Bank or

Jamaica rule, \\hich \\as the illegal and se!t-scning advice gi\c:J tu him by tile :' ~jnd

2 iCJ Derenchnts. ,Jnd tlut th.: [)!:lintifr lll1lLr duress and unreasonable pressure pll[ "n

him by the Bank all,mcd the Bank to redistribute the debt to appease them". It is trite

law that a Bank \lanager has a duty, both fidUCiary and contractual. to do what is

necessary to protect the interests of the bank. In such circumstances, it is impossible

to contemplate that a manager, doing what \\as necessary to protect his institution

from breaching regulatory strictures and enhancing the bank's likelihood or recovery,

can be said to be breaching any duty of care or fiduciary duty to the bank's customer.

Further, there is no evidence that redistributing the debt as alleged by the lSI Claimant

is in any way, illegal.

I wish to make one final comment in relation to the question of breach of fiduciary

duty vvhich the Claimants have put forward it seems, without much conviction. Their

counsel has articulated certain allegations which they claim provide evidence of a

special relationship. But as pointed out in the Privy Council case FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS SERVICES LIMITED y NEGRIL NEGRIL HOLDINGS LTD.

And NEGRIL INVESTMENT COMPA;\Y LTD. (Privy Council Appeal No 37 of

2003) (the so-called "Sinclair Case") per Lord Walker of Gestingthorpe at paragraph

14 of the Board'sjudgment:

The authorities show that the relationship between a banker and
his customer, although not normally a fiduciary relationship,
may exceptionally (ai/hough equi(oble rclie{is O\'Olloblc onl) I[
(he relo(ionship is shown /n have heen abused. See the judgment
of the Board in National Commercial Bank (Jamaica) Ltd. V
Hew (2003) UKPC 51. (Emphasis mine)

find that no fiduciary relationshq) has been established on the evidence in this case

and ergo, no abuse of any such relationship.

Compounding of Interest

The Claimants also aver that the bank has wrongfully charged compound interest on

the loans and/or overdrafts, \\hich they were servicing. Does a bank have a right to

charge compound intcresC) In ]\"ATIONAL BAl'"K OF GREECE SA v PINIOS

SHIPPING CO. No 1 AND A]\"OTIIER [l990J 1 All E.H.. 78, the House of Lords

considered this question. The Court of Appeal had reversed a holding by the COLIrt

below to the effect that a creditor bank was entitled to charge compound interest on a
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Illl,n;,:ag: Jebt Lip to the (!:lIe uf judgment. 1:1 tiiC C~'lIn lit' !\ppeai. the dcbtl1r had

Cc'IJtended that the n:()rtgag\~ d:ed fLhJ no ;m)\lsil1ll L,r the charging ot' com))c1und

interest. ~l11J th:lt irth.:re \\;is ,F\ sli\:h ei1titkmcnL ;t ceased h\ be applicable once the

hank lucJ lJl:l,k a ~kl11,lnd rl'l the rej1 aynL',lt ur the nwrtgage thcreb) terminating [!,('

relationship of Ixmker and custumer. The :\ppellams ill the Ilousc of Lords argued

that the bank's entitlement to compound interest arose from usage of bankers entitling

bankers to c3pitalize interest on 3 debt until payment. Their Lordships unanimously

upheld the bank's contention, What \\3S instructive abClut this decision is that in that

case, there was

a) No evidence before the court of the practice of bankers;
h) The court found that there was no express term in the

mortgage which entitled the bank to charge compound
interest; and

c) The Bank never pleaded or proved a custom entitling it to
continue to charge compound interest after the account had
been closed,

The Claimants' attorneys argue that the charging of compound interest in the instant

case is unl3\\ful. Thus at paragraphs 18 and 19 of the stak'l1lent of claim the

Claimants allege:

The Ist and 2"d Plaintiffs \vere advised by the Bank to write
cheques against the current account and the Rank would apply
the loan rate of 65% as in previous loans. and the l't and t,J
Plaintiffs paid the commitment fee for this loan,

That the bank did not apply the rate of 65% to this current
account as in the past instead illegally without notice to the
Plaintiffs compounded the O\erdraft rate of 120% to the account.

Counsel for the Claimants acknowledges that there are authorities from both the

lIouse of Lords (YOURELL V I1IBERi'lIAl\' BANK LTD [1918] AC 372) and the

Privy Council (Ex.P BEVAN (1803) 9 Ves 223) which support the right of bankers to

charge compound interest. Counsel cited the case of DEUTSCHEBANK &

DISCONTO GESSELLSCHAFT v BANOCE des l\lERCHANDS de l\JOSCOLT

[193114 LDAB 293 where, while the principle of compounding interest was upheld.

it was not allo\\ed due to the special circumstances of a war being in progress at the

time, Counsel elicits from this case the proposition that "compound interest cannot be

charged if the factual circumstances do not alia\'. it", She then proceeds to cite certain
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circumslilnces \\ hidl. she says. make this Cl.SC :T'c,-i"L including the 1':.1\.:t l,f "(in

overdraft being forced on the customer in hreach of contract for a dC':11and loan" and

"thc nature of the transaction in \\ hich specilic (O'ts \\erC' ljL:l'ted to intended

l'urch3scrs of housing", It is surficient to say that nlYle of thesc CirCLI!llsLlIll'c'S eh'n

rC'motely apprnach the seriousness of a \\31' in which the nation is inyuheJ. and so,

even if there \\ ere any validity in the proposition, the circLlmstames arc easily

distinguishable. Claimants' counsel acknO\\ledged that PANTO:\, , IRC (1938) AC

341, was a further authority that supported the proposition that bankers are entitled to

compound interest where customers fail to pay interest as it accrues. In this case, there

is abundant evidence, including from the 151 Claimant himself as \vell as the witness

statement of Ronald Sasso which it \vas agreed should be available for usc by either

party, that the Claimants were not servicing their loan accounts in a timely manner.

Counsel suggested that compounding ought not to apply where as here interest was

charged from day to day and credited at monthly rests. I regret that I cannot accept

that proposition and no authority was cited.

The issue of compound interest was one of the central features of the Sinclair case

referred to above. At first instance. Ellis .I held that he "did not find that they (the

dispositions of the witnesses) provided any cogent evidence as to the existence of

business practice \vhich would assist me in interpreting 'the usual rate of interest on

overdraft' to confer 3ny entitlement on the defendant to compound interest. I hold that

finding because in a majority of the practices depuned to. there \\as (sic) express

terms in the contl'acts to compound interest on overdraft balances. unlike the

circumstances of this case". Lord \Valker in the Privy Council stated: "In the Court 01

Appeal, the majority adopted and stn:ngthened this conclusion, Harrison .I.A. (at

pages 21\2-283) referred to a contractual right enjuyed under their written agreements

bv all the six leading commercial banks operating in Jamaica and Langrin ./.A (at

rages 316-8). concluded that 'nearly all banks' charged compound interest under

express contractual terms. Downer ./.A. dissenting. reached a different

conclusion".(page 214) Having reviewed the evidence vvhich was available to the first

instunce judge, the Privy Council concluded: "After a detailed review of this part of

the evidence, their lordships have concluded that it did not justify the conclusion

reached by the judge and upheld by the majority of the Court 01 Appeal". Certainly,
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the Prin Ccunci!"s vie\\ i~ an ill1pi;:il ,i\;Ccpt:lncc of lhc j)CJsit!ul1 (\1' Du\\ nL'!" J.A in

Inc COl!rt of/\ppeal \\ho said:

·\s the j;!\\ ()n C(lli1puundin:,- jnl.':r~",t \vas ,U;e,1 in Y()lJ~

Hibernian Bank (191S) AC .3~2 ,1n.:.J ylnios by the ifc)uSC 1
L.ords. these cases are part ot the common law of Lngland. In
this area, wc follow the common law of England and so will the
Privy Council. There is therefore no ned to resort to the usage
and custom of bankers as the law is settled.

In light of the Privy Council ruling in the Sinclair case. counsel for the Claimants can

hardly expect to rely upon the holding of Ellis.l. at first instancc, as they seck to do.

Counsel for the Defendants submitted that in any C\enL the issue of whether the bank

could charge compound interest was acadcmic as the mortgage signed by the

Claimants specifically provided for interest to be compounded "with monthly rests".

Indeed, she made the point that in any e\cnt, there was evidence that the loans were

not being serviced in a timely manner. As is apparent above, this \vould form a proper

basis for the charging of compound interest. There can be no argument of a breach of

contract in relation to the charging of compound interest.

Another aspect of the Claimants' case requires comment. There are numerous

references in the submissions of the Claimants to rates of interest bcing "penal rates"

and there is a suggestion that charging a rate of intcrest of J20Si) was a "penal" rate.

As I understand the witness statement of Ronald Sasso. howcvcr. the rate of 120S/i)

was the amount charged by the Bank of Jamaica whcre an individual bank ran an

overdra1t with the central bank, and this rate was recovered from the respccti\e

customers who \vere, themselves. in overdraft at the individual institution. The

Claimants do not a\cr what was the "normal" or "non-penal rate" in relation to any

overdra1t which the Bank allo\\ed. In any c\ent. I find dicta in Sinclair, on penal

interest rates. instructive. In that case there was also a pleading of the customer being

charged penal rates of interest. The Privy Council seemcd to 11:1'.e taken that phrase to

be applicable to, the rate of interest applicable to "unauthorized overdrafts", that is.

overdrafts incurred by the customer over and aLxne that allo\\ed by the bank. The

Pmy Council held that, having created a special relationship \\ ith its customer, it

could not conscientiously allo\', the customers' overdrafts to get bigger and bigger

while treating them as unauthorized overdrafts in order to charge penal rates of
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intc:'cs1. It Ivas in those circull1st:1nCCS that the Privv Council cunsidcrcd that the

courts bckm \\ere correct [() disallcm the rales charged by the bank. In this case. the

Claimants have not !c,! an) evidence of the ratc~ of intere<.:t IV hich thc;. might hel\e

paid \'n any C'\erdraft as C'l~lwsed Ii' the 1~()Go they JI!cged the:, sutTcrd. In adJiti"I1.

as f(JunJ here. there is no special relationship. In relation to this averment of the

Defendant Bank changing the rate of interest purp0l1edly agreed on a demand loan. I

have formed the view that the evidence is too tenuous to find in favour of the

Claimants and so here as well, I find in fi:l\our of the Defendant Bank on the question

of a breach of contract.

I 'v\ish to comment again upon the evidence in relation to the demand loan/standby

facility of $20,000,000.00 which was sought in relation to the Midland Clades

development. I start by observing that according to Lue's witness statement, the

demand loans which Property had taken prior to July 1993. were repaid in full. The

difficulties now complained of must therefore have started vvith the November 1993

request for the $20,000,000.00. This is corroborated by r-vlr. Bell's evidence, when he

says that if the sum of $20,000,000.00 had bcen credited to the LPL account there

would not have been an overdraft. Mr. Lue says: "On November 29, 1993 LPL si2ncd
~ . - ~

scaled and delivered all relevant documentation for the demand loan of

$20,000,000.00 to IVB. The interest rate was 68~o per annum. A non-refundable

commitment fee of $200,000.00 was charged". lIe says that this "demand 103;' w3S

never credited to LPL's account as the bank "opted to carry an overdraft at intercst

rate of 120(Yo per annum·'. :'\'11'. Bell, the chief accountant of Lue's Group of

Companies. deponed in his witness statement as follows:

In mid-November 1993. LPL reque"led a demand loan of
$20,000.000.00 from IVB to finance a development called
"]\1 id land C; lades".

IVB submitted a Lettcr of Commitment and Promissory Note to
LPL for a demand loan of 520,000,000.00 signed by ;'v1r. Sasso
and Mr. :'-Jorman Nelson which vvas duly signed scaled and
delivered to IVB on November 29, 1993

rhe interest rate was 68% per annum and a non-refundable
commitment fcc of two hu:,Jred thousand dollars ($200,000'{W)
was charged.
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Consequently we \\ "ite cheques (In the current DCL'ount on the
unckrsLindll1g lhat this sLIm \\c'uld be credited tei the ilc,~'unl.

'J l1is situi;tion IT1CJnt that tile: ell; rent ~\c.:('!nt \\ent into 0\ erL1rart
ilnd \Ie II ere charged OIeruI:11't illtel,,'sL

-" Ithcugh LPL accepted this demand Ie'Lin c, S20,OOO,UOO,OO
flOl11 [VB on Nowmber 29, [993, IVB ne\er credited LPL's
account \\ith the proceeds of this demand loan but opted ili'Jin 111

carry an O\crdrilfl in LPL's current account, thus creatJllg a
situation of compounding interest. The overdraft interest rate
charged on the current account of LPL was] 20% per annum,
This action resulted in LPL paying $10,365,207,16 additional in
interest charges,

It should be pointed out again, in light of the discussion on compounding of interest

above, that the carrying of an overdraft in the current was not, per se, responsible for

the compounding of interest, contrary to what I\lr. Bell might have thought. \Vhat is

interesting in Mr. Bell's witness statement is that he purports to set out the overdral!

interest charged "re Midland Glades". J make a number of elementary observations.

Firstly, there was no evidence rhar rhere was a separare aceounr (or "'\'fidland

Glades" There is abundant evidence that LPL previously had a current account with

the Bank and there is nothing in the evidence which would support the view that the

current account was only established for that particular project Secondly, he sets out

a list of the monthly amounts charged, The I ist of charged interest for consecutive

1110nths from December ]2, 1993 to f\larch 31. 1996 amounts to a total of

S19,848.206,23. There is no indication as to \\hat was the principal sum on which he

computed the interest charges, nor docs he indicate what should have been the amount

of interest and ho\\ he had arrived at it. What is clear is that the amount set out in his

witness statement does not appear to represent a rate of interest of 1200,0 compounded

at monthly rests, That evidence is totally absent. \\hat is the court to melke of it in

these circumstances'! I\1r. Bell also suggests that LPL \1 as charged a cummitment fcc

ofS200,000,00 for a loan it did not receive, J repeat thelt ira facility is provided, even

a standby facility, a commitment fcc is payable.

\11. Chin. the Defendant's witness, in his \\itness statement says that "the loan was

granted by the Bank" Ho\\ever, as I have also pointed out above, there arc two

apparently conflicting statements of Mr. Chin in his statement. I have rehearsed the

above in relation to this part of the evidence because there is no documentary

evidence provided by either of the parties confirming the averments in the Ilitness
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st~lkl1lents either as it alkets the issue (If what lIas being applied for and giH'n. or the

terms upon \\ hich the parties agreed. \\c cannot lose sight ot" the basic principle th:lt

he \\ho Jlleges must prole. f Jc)\\ner. it would not be unreasonable tu beline th:lt the

reCO!'l!s \\hich \\ere thc sLi'ic·,'t ,)1' i11liCh ," \1r CI1;I1'5 dn:d>sis JI1(1 statement. \,,('[:Id

include such d,)cumentation. :'-iut\\ ithstanding that obsenatioll, I can find ilO basis I(lr

holding in the Claimants' falour in relatioil to any of the issues canvassed above. as

the Claimants hale not proven any of their averments on a balance of probabilities.

Indeed, while 1 make no finding of fact in light of the evidence, I would h.Jture to say

that in commercial experience, the expression of a "standby facility" is normall> nwre

consistent with the granting of an overdraft than a demand loan.

Even if I am wrong in relation those issues abole, 1 accept the submission of counsel

for the Defendants when she says that the complaint of the Claimants based on the

compounding of interest must fail. Moreoler, such a complaint is void of materiality

in light of the fact that an account stated has been arrived at between the parties on the

basis of the correspondence dated July 4 and 22,1996. The letter of July 4,1996 from

the Bank to Fraser & Aitchcson, the thcn attorneys at law for the Companies, refers to

a lettcr dated May 17, 1996 from the said attorncys at law. That letter, according to

thc text of the July 4 letter, detailed a "proposed full settlement of the Lue Group's

debt by a total payment of Ninety-five million dollars ($95,000,000.00) in accordance

with certain terms and conditions". The letter continued:

In this regard, we now confirm that we arc prepared to accept the
offer of ninety five million dollars in settlement of the said debt
0\ er a period of twelve (12) months as detailed below":

1sl Payment
nd -

2 Pa\ment
~ ~d P -
J' avment

'I
l

.-

4' Pa\ment

540 million
520 million
530 million
$5 mill ion

Payable in 2 months
Palable in 4 months
Payable in 9 months
Payable in 12 months

The letter then recited tW(l "conditions of settlcment" which in my \Iew are

conditions subsequent and \\ere exclll~ively lor the benefit and protection of the Bank

and therefore could be wailed by them. The letter of July 2(J, 1996 is from the

attorneys in response to the July 4, lettcr (md is in the following terms:

We write further to your letter of July 4. I(196 and to thc meeting
earlier this afternoon at your officcs at which were present your
president !\1iss i\1arguerite Davidson, her assistant Mr. Colin
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~e\\ l11:1n. i\!cs",rs John Chuck and George palmt.'r represcnting
Luc's ProperT:, Limited 3nd the signer hereof

IfjLi:o t!JJr Il~rjii'_c:J eej)!!:!!Ki:Jil-~[f,~J I1.<c'ii!l:(iJIJLo ftiJJJIJ lill i Ie ,10)

11'G\ e [1~1Jli'1Jl-1) 'ilJ-'-( ~\( L~)l (.' I j ! !,-iL!!lJ-(!..IJ!-,-'~'!.iU0!.~L~iI/l-_L

!Y()0, III i1.\ [o.'(l!:ll.. \\c furthcr conJ:rm that fClr the pllrpose~ ul
the settlcment. time' will begin to run frolll today. and that the
LlIe's Croup of Companies are already mobilized to implement
their responsibilities in this matter. (Emphasis minc)

Thesc letters are to be read against the background of the letter of !\1arch 19, 1996

from the Bank to Mr. Luc setting out the halances on the accounts as requested by Mr.

Lue. Counsel for the Bank submitted that at the very least this exchange constitLItcd

an admission of the indebtedness out of court and necessitates the Claimants proving

that the debt is not due, a burden it is submitted, has not been met by the Claimants.

Further, and in any event, counsel submitted that the account stated constituted by

virtue the letters exchanged (refer above) is a "real account stated" and cannot be

avoided except for fraud or some other vitiating factor which would make it liable to

be set aside. Clearly, there is no allegation Of" even any evidence of fraud on the part

of the Defendants in this case.

[n CHINESE MARITIME TRANSPORT LTD v A/S VESTl\lAR [1998J EWCA

CIV 290 (19 FEBRUAH.Y 1998), the issue of whether certain actions amounted to a

stated account came before the English Court of AppeaL Hobhouse L.J briefly set out

the issues in the following terms:

This is an appeal fmm a decision of Judge [[allgarten sitting at
the Central London County Court. The claim made in the action
was for the payment of hire \vhich it was alleged had been
underpaid owing to a deduction of alleged off-hire. The dispute
between the parties raised two points. One was v\ hat might be
described as the merits. namely whether the vesscl had been off­
hire at the times in question: the second \\as whether there had
bcen a settled account betwcen the parties \\hich had precluded
the plaintiffs from reopening that account and claiming the SUIll

claimcd in the action.

In that case. a dispLlle bet\\een charterers (plaintiff) and a disponent owner

(defendant) of a vessel over the amount of money due fi-om the charterers had been

resolved after an exchange of correspondence including a statement of account and

an agreement thereon. Hobhouse L.J. stated:

The situation, therefore, is one which requires a consideration of
what is the eflect of \vhat passed between the parties when the
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charterers rendered an account. ill\it;::d the Jisp()nent owners to
agree iL the disponent em ners did agree it. and charlcrers paid
the sum shown in the accunL

It appears to 1i-111 \\ ithil] the classic ckscrirtion or an aCCC111l1t
sLlted pl\Jperl) "o-called ,IS rctt:rrcd at page I '-lCJ3 l,f Chim e111

Contracts, VOlume I, (Jenera I Principles. It there sa)s:

"'A 'real account stated' is one in \\ llich the account
includes items on both sides and the parties have agreed
that there shall be a set-orfand onl) the balance shall be
payable. The '... several items of claim are brought into
account on either side, and, being set against one
another, a balance is struck and the consideration for the
payment of the balance is the discharge of the items on
each side.' Though such an arrangement is frequently
regarded as quasi-contractual, it is more properly
described as 'a promise for good consideration to pay
the balance': and the consideration is val id and the
settlement is binding even though some of the debts
may be statute-barred, or otherwise unenforceable.
Fraud, however, will permit the questioning of an
account stated."

I find myself in a similar situation to the judge. In my judgment,
the purpose of accounts such as this is to achieve finality. These
accounts were not drawn in equivocal terms. nor were the
communications in equivocal terms.

I respectfully adopt the logic and the dicta of the karned Lord Justice and hold that

the Defendant is entitled to succeed on this basis as well. The only question that I

\\ould raise would be \\hether, the Bank having acknO\\Jcdged charging interest at the

120% rate for the period between February 24. J 994 and September 15 1994 and

conceding that if there had been an arranged line of credit, the interest \\ould have

been $7.42 million less. the bank might wish to take that into 3ccount when it seeks to

enforce its rights consequent upon this judgment. As I have sought to point out 3bme,

I am far frum satisfied as to evidence for the so called demand I03n and any terms

thereof and therefore I make no ruling in this regard.

As a further matter of fact. there is no credible evidence of ~iI1Y pa) ment having been

made in relation to that real account stated and I accordingly hold that the Claimants

have failed in relation to their suit. Finally, I am also satisfied that the assignment was

a proper assignment, having been cf1Ccted pursuant to an order of the court and the

successors in title are entitled to rely upon the assignment in seeking to enforce the
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debt. By the ~,JJl1C tuken. then.' can he Ill' hre~\Ch or a statutoI') dut) 01 cOiifJdentialit)

under the IL:nkin,;; Act \\ here the a,Si~llI11Cllt ILl~ been m:1Jc jillrsu:lnt tu such Cl CULli"t

Order. The dcclJldtiuns ~ollght b\ the Cl:li"'Cl " ts ill their \",tCI1lCl1t Ill' li:,im :ll~' .:

JL'nicJ

J Jlso find tklt on the evidence berore me, FI~;SAC Ltd. is not a prcpcr party. ought

not to have been sued and therefore / award judgment in its favour on the Claimant"

claims. Judgment is J\-\ardcd to the I ,to yd and 4,h Defend3nts with costs to be taxed if

not agreed.
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